

Coral Triangle Initiative on Coral Reefs, Fisheries and Food Security (CTI-CFF)

Attachment 4-1 THE CTI-CFF RULES OF PROCEDURE

6th CTI-CFF SENIOR OFFICIALS MEETING (SOM6) 10-12 November 2010 MANADO, INDONESIA

Adopted 11th November 2010

By the Government of Indonesia, Malaysia, Papua New Guinea, the Philippines, Solomon Islands, and Timor-Leste

THE CORAL TRIANGLE INITIATIVE ON CORAL REEFS, FISHERIES AND FOOD SECURITY (CTI-CFF) RULES OF PROCEDURE

REVISED DRAFT

Rule 1: CTI Council of Ministers

- (1) The CTI Council of Ministers (CTI COM) at the Ministerial Meeting shall be the principal decisionmaking body of the CTI-CFF.
- (2) Each CTI-CFF Party shall be represented by the Ministers responsible for CTI-CFF matters in that Party. In the event the Minister responsible for CTI-CFF matters in a Party is unavailable to attend the Ministerial Meeting or part of the Ministerial Meeting, an alternative authorized representative may substitute and shall be identified with a letter of credentials. Such an alternative authorized representative shall be either another duly authorized Minister from the Party or the Minister responsible for CTI-CFF matters is unavailable to attend representative shall be either another duly authorized Minister from the Party or the Minister responsible for CTI-CFF matter's immediate subordinate.
- (3) Observers referred to in Rule 19 shall be represented by designated representatives and by such alternate representatives and advisers as may be required.
- (4) Each CTI-CFF Party and any State observer referred to in Rule 19, shall notify the Secretariat as far as possible in advance of any meeting of the name of its representatives and before or at the beginning of any meeting of the names of its alternate representatives and advisers in appropriate letter of credentials.
- (5) Each non-State observer referred to in Rule 19, shall notify the Secretariat as far as possible in advance of any meeting of the name of its representatives and before or at the beginning of any meeting of the names of its alternate representatives and advisers in appropriate letter of credentials or letter of notification.
- (6) Each CTI-CFF Party shall, as soon as possible after the adoption of these rules, notify the Secretariat of one or more Official Contacts who shall, for the purposes of official communications between the Secretariat and the Party concerned, including all notifications and communications made pursuant to these rules, be the official point of contact.

Rule 2

(1) The powers and functions of the CTI COM shall include:

- (a) maintain the vision of the CTI-CFF and promote regional priorities in each country, regionally and at international forums, including by inviting partner State Ministers to observe the CTI-CFF Ministerial Meeting;
- (b) at its discretion, consider, approve or disapprove the decision by CTI CSO on proposals, recommendations, plans, programs, projects and activities of the Secretariat;

(c) setting of criteria for considering and accepting CTI Partner membership to the CTI-CFF;

(d) appointment of the Executive Director and Deputy Executive Directors for the Secretariat;

- (e) giving directions to the Executive Director on the discharge of the Executive Director's powers and functions;
- (f) giving directions to the CTI CSO on the discharge of their powers and functions, including policy direction;
- (g) conferring additional powers and functions on the Executive Director as required;
- (h) approving financial estimates of income and expenditure of the Secretariat;
- (i) approving rules, regulations, procedures, and meeting scheduling for the effective functioning of the Secretariat;
- (j) at the request of a Party, arranging for the inspection and audit of the Secretariat's books and accounts; and
- (k) monitor and evaluate the progress towards achieving the goals and targets of the Regional Plan of Action through consideration and adoption of the annual report of the Secretariat.
- (2) The CTI COM shall exercise its powers and functions for the benefit of the peoples of the Members, having regard to all the activities of the Secretariat.

Rule 3

- (1) The CTI COM shall meet every 2 years, or at such other intervals as may be resolved by the meeting.
- (2) In extraordinary circumstances, the CTI COM may, if it so chooses, permit Members to participate in a particular meeting, or all meetings, by telephone, closed-circuit television or any other means of electronic communication, and a member who so participates is to be regarded as being present at the meeting. A meeting may be held solely by means of electronic communication.

Rule 4: CTI Committee of Senior Officials

The function of the CTI Committee of Senior Officials (CTI CSO) will be to make such decisions and give such directions to the Executive Director as will ensure, especially in the interval between Ministerial Meetings, that the business of the CTI-CFF is carried out efficiently and in accordance with the decisions of the CTI COM. This may include the provision of recommendations to the Executive Director on the implementation of decisions of Ministerial Meetings through the Secretariat or through special Technical Working Groups or other bodies established under Rule 8.

Rule 5

The CTI CSO has all the powers vested in the CTI COM with the exception of the appointment of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the CTI CSO, but any decisions taken only subsist until the next Ministerial Meeting, and only continue to have effect if confirmed at the next Ministerial Meeting.

Rule 6

(1) The CTI CSO shall consist of Senior Officials of each of the Parties.

(2) Each Party will be entitled to nominate one representative to the CTI CSO and such alternate representatives and advisers as may be required by the delegation.

Rule 7

- (1) The CTI CSO shall meet annually in the Senior Officials Meeting, or as requested by the CTI COM, or at such other intervals as may be resolved by CTI CSO.
- (2) The Chair of the CTI CSO may convene the CTI CSO in plenary or inter-sessionally if in the Chair's view, such a meeting is necessary .
- (3) In extraordinary circumstances, the CTI CSO may, if it so chooses, permit Members to participate in a particular meeting, or all meetings, by telephone, closed-circuit television, or any other means of electronic communication, and a Member who so participates is to be regarded as being present at the meeting. A meeting may be held solely by means of electronic communication.

Rule 8: Other Bodies

- (1) The CTI COM or the CTI CSO may each create such subsidiary bodies as they think are necessary for efficient governance of the CTI-CFF.
- (2) Such subsidiary bodies may include specialist Technical Working Groups, which may meet to provide advice to the Secretariat. The CTI COM or the CTI CSO as appropriate shall specify the membership of subsidiary bodies.
- (3) These Rules of Procedure will be applied *mutatis mutandis* to the meetings of such subsidiary bodies.

Rule 9: Decision Making

- (1) As a general rule, decision-making in both the CTI COM and the CTI CSO shall be by consensus. For the purposes of these rules, "consensus" means that every member will be asked for their opinion and given the fair chance to make a formal objection at the time the decision is taken.
- (2) Decisions of the CTI COM on matters of substance shall be taken by consensus. The question of whether a matter is one of substance shall be treated as a matter of substance.
- (3) Decisions other than those of substance shall be taken by the majority of the Members present and voting.
- (4) Decisions on matters arising under these Rules of Procedure, the Financial Regulations, the Staff Regulations and with respect to any financial contributions shall be taken by consensus.
- (5) Each Member shall have one (1) vote in the CTI COM and one (1) vote in the CTI CSO.
- (6) The CTI COM shall vote by show of hands, but any Member may request a secret ballot vote.
- (7) Where a CTI-CFF member is represented by more than one Minister at the CTI COM, that member shall be entitled to only one vote.

Rule 10: Chair and Vice-Chair of the CTI COM

- (3) At its first meeting, the CTI COM shall elect a Chair from among its members. The chairmanship of the CTI COM shall rotate, in alphabetical order based on the name of the Party, in a predetermined schedule, as a means of sharing leadership responsibilities amongst the countries. Except at the first meeting, the Chair shall assume office at the conclusion of the meeting at which they are elected. The Party whose name next follows alphabetically from the Party of the current Chair will nominate a candidate for election as Chair, at the meeting immediately prior to the conclusion of the term of office of the current Chair.
- (2) At its first meeting, the CTI COM shall elect a Vice-Chair from among its members. The vice-chairmanship of the CTI COM shall rotate, in alphabetical order based on the name of the Party, in a predetermined schedule, as a means of sharing leadership responsibilities amongst the countries. Except at the first meeting, the Vice-Chair shall assume office at the conclusion of the meeting at which they are elected. The Party whose name next follows alphabetically from the Party of the current Vice-Chair will nominate a candidate for election as Vice-Chair, at the meeting immediately prior to the conclusion of the term of office of the current Vice-Chair.
- (3) The powers and duties of the Chair of the CTI COM shall be:
 - a) to declare the opening and closing of each meeting;
 - b) to preside at meetings;
 - c) to rule on points of order, subject to the right of any representative to request that any ruling of the Chair shall be submitted to the meeting for decision by vote;
 - d) to call for and announce the results of votes, or to determine if there is consensus;
 - e) to determine after consultation with the Executive Director, the draft provisional agenda and the provisional agenda for each annual and special meeting; and
 - f) to sign a report of the proceedings of each meeting.
 - g) act on behalf of the CTI COM in any other matter which is the responsibility of the CTI COM
- (4) Whenever the Chair of the CTI COM is unable to act, the Vice-Chair shall exercise the powers and duties prescribed for the Chair.
- (5) If the office of the Chair is vacated, the Party of the outgoing Chair will nominate a candidate to act in the office of Chair for the balance of the outgoing Chair's two year term.
- (6) The Chair, or Vice-Chair when acting as Chair, shall not vote and another representative of her or his delegation shall exercise this function.

Rule 11: Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee of the Senior Officials Meeting

- (1) The Chair of the CSO shall rotate in time and by country, parallel to the CTI COM. The Vice Chair will be from the host country. They shall take office upon their appointment for the same term as the CTI COM Chair.
- (2) The rotation of the Chair of the CSP referred to in paragraph (1) above shall be based on the names of the CTI-CFF Parties in English in alphabetical order. As such, the Party whose name next follows alphabetically from the Party of the current Chair will nominate a candidate for election as Chair, at the meeting immediately prior to the conclusion of the term of office of the current

REVISED DRAFT		
Chair. The initial Chair of the CTI CSO will be nominated by the CTI-CFF Party of the initial Chair of the CTI COM.		
(3) The powers and duties of the Chair of the CTI CSO Officials shall be:		
a) to declare the opening and closing of each CTI CSO;		
b) to preside at meetings;		
 c) to rule on points of order, subject to the right of any representative to request that any ruling of the Chair shall be submitted to the CTI CSO for decision by vote; 		
d) to call for and announce the results of votes;		
e) to determine after consultation with the Executive Director, the draft provisional agenda and the provisional agenda for each meeting; and		
f) to sign a report of the proceedings of each meeting for transmission to the CTI COM.		
g) act on behalf of the CTI CSO in any other matter which is the responsibility of the CTI CSO.		
(4) Whenever the Chair is unable to act, the Vice-Chair shall exercise the powers and duties prescribed for the Chair.		
(5) If the office of the Chair is vacated, the Vice-Chair shall become Chair for the balance of the term.		
(6) The Chair, or Vice-Chair when acting as Chair, shall not vote and another representative of his/her delegation shall exercise this function.		
Rules 12: Agenda		
(1) The provisional agenda for a Ministerial Meeting shall be drawn up by the Executive Director, in consultation with the Chair.		
(2) The provisional agenda of a Ministerial Meeting shall include:		
(a) The annual report of the Executive Director on the work of the Secretariat;		
 (b) Items the inclusion of which has been requested by the Ministerial Meeting at a previous session; 		
(c) Items proposed by any Member at least thirty (30) days prior to the Ministerial Meeting;		
(d) Items pertaining to the budget for the next financial year or years covering the period up to the next Ministerial Meeting, the report on the accounts for the last financial year or years since the last Ministerial Meeting, and the auditors' report or reports since the last Ministerial Meeting;		
(e) The report of the CTI CSO and any recommendations of the CTI CSO for confirmation and approval by the CTI COM;		
(f) Requests for the inclusion of observers under Rule 19;		
(g) Requests for the admission of new Parties to the CTI-CFF pursuant to Rule 21; and		
(1) (h) Items which the Executive Director deems it necessary to put before the CTI COM.		
(3) A provisional agenda for the CTI CSO shall be drawn up by the Executive Director, in consultation with the Chair.		

(4) The provisional agenda of a CTI CSO shall include:

- (a) The annual report of the Executive Director on the work of the Secretariat;
- (b) Items the inclusion of which has been requested by the CTI CSO at a previous session;
- (c) Items proposed by any Party at least thirty days prior to the CTI CSO Meeting;
- (d) Items pertaining to the budget for the next financial year, the report on the accounts for the last financial year and the auditors' report;
- (e) Matters requiring consideration during the inter-sessional period between Ministerial Meetings for the efficient and effective operation of the Secretariat for confirmation and approval;
- (f) Requests for the inclusion of observers under Rule 19;
- (g) Proposals from CTI Partners as endorsed by the Secretariat;
- (h) Items which the Executive Director deems it necessary to put before the CTI CSO.

Rule 13: Conduct of Business

- (1) Sessions of the Ministerial Meeting may be held in public, if the CTI COM so decides on the basis of consensus.
- (2) Sessions of the CTI CSO Meeting may be held in public, if the CTI CSO so decides on the basis of consensus.

Rule 14: Quorum

The Chair may declare a Ministerial Meeting or CTI CSO Meeting open and permit the discussion and substantial work of the meetings to proceed when at least two-third of the Parties' representatives are present.

Rule 15: Speeches

No representative may address the CTI COM or CTI CSO Meeting without having previously obtained the permission of the Chair. The Chair shall call upon speakers in the order in which they signify their desire to speak, except that the Executive Director may be accorded precedence for the purpose of explaining the work of the Secretariat. The Chair may call a speaker to order if the speaker's remarks are not relevant to the subject under discussion.

Rule 16: Statements by the Secretariat

The Executive Director, or a member of the Secretariat designated by the Executive Director as the Executive Director's representative, may, at any time with the permission of the Chair, make either oral or written statements to the CTI COM or CTI CSO Meeting concerning any question under consideration by those meetings.

Rule 17: Points of Order

During the discussion of any matter, a member of the CTI COM or CTI CSO may rise to a point of order, and the point of order shall be immediately decided by the Chair in accordance with these Rules of Procedure. A member of the CTI COM or CTI CSO may appeal against the ruling of the Chair. In such a case, the appeal shall be immediately put to the vote, and the Chair's ruling shall stand unless

overruled by a majority of the members of the CTI COM or CTI CSO present and voting. A representative rising to a point of order may not speak on the substance of the matter under discussion .

Rule 18: Procedural Motions

- (1) Subject to Rule 17, a member of the CTI COM or CTI CSO may at any time make any of the following procedural motions. Such motions shall have precedence in the following order over all other proposals or motions before the meeting:
 - (a) to suspend the meeting;
 - (b) to adjourn the meeting;
 - (c) to adjourn the debate on the item under discussion;
 - (d) to close the debate on the item under discussion.
- (2) Any motion calling for a decision on the competence of the CTI COM or the CTI CSO to adopt a proposal submitted to it shall be put to the vote before a vote is taken on the proposal in question.

Rule 19: Observers

- (1) The following may attend the Ministerial Meeting and the Senior Officials Meeting as observers:
 - (a) States, non-governmental organizations or international organizations who are CTI Partners as defined in Rule 20.
- (2) Upon the invitation of the CTI COM, the following may participate as observers in the Ministerial Meeting and the CTI CSO Meeting:
 - (a) States other than CTI Partners which are not Parties;
 - (b) The United Nations or any of its agencies;
 - (c) Inter-governmental organizations, including regional organizations; and
 - (d) Non-governmental organizations concerned with matters relevant to the activities of the CTI-CFF,
- (3) Observers referred to in paragraph 1 (a) and paragraph 2 (a), (b), (c) and (d) of this rule may participate subject to the provisions of these rules in the deliberations of the CTI COM and the CTI CSO but shall not be entitled to participate in the taking of decisions. Written statements submitted by such observers shall be distributed by the Secretariat to the representatives at the Ministerial Meeting and CTI CSO Meeting as appropriate.
- (4) An organization desiring to participate as an observer pursuant to paragraph 2 of this rule shall notify the Executive Director in writing of its desire to participate at least sixty days in advance of the session. The Executive Director shall notify the CTI COM representatives of such request at least forty five days prior to the opening of the Meeting at which the request is to be considered. Organizations that have made such notification to the Executive Director shall be invited to participate in the session as observers unless a majority of the members of the CTI COM or CTI CSO objects to the request in writing at least twenty days before the opening of the session. Such observer status shall remain in effect for future sessions unless the CTI COM decides otherwise.
- (5) Observers referred to in paragraph 1 (a) and paragraph 2 (a), (b) and (c) of this rule may sit at meetings of the CTI COM and the CTI CSO upon the invitation of the Chair and subject to the

REVISED DRAFT		
а	pproval of the CTI COM or CTI CSO may make oral statements on matters.	
Rule 2	20: CTI Partners	
• •	CTI CSO Partner is any State, inter-governmental organization or non-governmental ganization who:	
(a) was invited to be a CTI CSO Partner at the initiation of the CTI-CFF; or	
(b) meets the criteria and goes through the established process to become a CTI CSO Partner.	
	ne CTI COM may accept applications from a State, inter-governmental organization or non- overnmental organization, including private sector entities, to become a CTI Partner.	
	State, inter-governmental organization or non-governmental organization seeking to become a II Partner of the CTI-CFF must:	
(a) be approved by consensus resolution of the CTI COM	
(b) be able to meet a set of criteria for CTI Partner membership as agreed by the CTI COM.	
(c)) have stated its support for the principles and objectives of the CTI-CFF, the Rules of Procedure and the CTI-CFF Secretariat Agreement within a Ministerial Meeting.	
(d) a new State, inter-governmental organization or non-governmental organization seeking to become a CTI Partner may be permitted to have a representative attend the Ministerial Meeting and CTI CSO Meeting as an observer pursuant to Rule 19,	
Rule 2	21: New Members	
(1) Th	ne CTI COM may accept applications from States to become Parties of the CTI-CFF.	
(2) A	State seeking to become a Party of the CTI-CFF must:	
(a)) be able to meet a set of criteria for CTI-CFF membership as agreed by the CTI COM Such criteria may include, <i>inter alia</i> :	
	(i) the location of territory in the Coral Triangle region;	
	(ii) diplomatic recognition by all Parties;	
	(iii) the adoption of the CTI Declaration; and	
	 (iv) an ability and willingness to fulfill the CTI Regional Plan of Action, and applicable CTI programs and projects; 	
(b) have submitted, from the Ministry in charge of CTI matters, a letter of intent addressed to the CTI COM;	
(C)) have stated its support for the principles and objectives of the CTI-CFF within a Ministerial Meeting;	
(d) have agreed to provide a financial contribution to the operation of the Secretariat consistent with the formula used in Rule 8 of the Finance Regulations; and	
(e) have adopted these Rules of Procedure and the CTI-CFF Secretariat Agreement;	
(f)	be approved by a consensus resolution of the CTI COM to be decided in a CTI Summit.	
	new State will become a Party, with the right to participate fully in the Ministerial Meeting and CT SO Meeting, when all of the requirements of paragraph (2) have been met, and all domestic	

constitutional requirements have been completed/instrument of ratification have been submitted to the Depositary.

(4) A new State seeking to become a Party may be permitted to have a representative attend the Ministerial Meeting and CTI CSO Meeting as an observer pursuant to Rule 19 (1) or (2) (a), prior to its fulfillment of all of the requirements of paragraph 2 of this Rule.

Rule 22: Language

The official language of the CTI COM and CTI CSO shall be English. All reports and other documents submitted by the Secretariat to the CTI COM or CTI CSO shall be in English or be accompanied by translations into English.

Rule 23: Place of Meetings

The Ministerial Meetings and CTI CSO Meetings shall take place at the country of the Chair, unless the CTI COM or CTI CSO decide otherwise.

Rule 24: Amendment

- (1) These Rules of Procedure, the Finance Regulations and Staff Regulations may be amended by the CTI COM.
- (2) The CTI CSO may, in accordance with Rule 5 of these Rules of Procedure, make amendments to these Rules of Procedure, the Finance Regulations and Staff Regulations with the exception of Rule 5 of these Rules of Procedure.

Rule 25: Additional Provisions and Amendments

- (1) Additional provisions and amendments shall be officially submitted in writing to the Executive Director.
- (2) The Executive Director shall circulate the submissions to the Parties not later than (xx) days before the CTI COM or CSO Meeting.
- (3) (3) The Chair may, however, permit the discussion and consideration of the amendments or of motions as to procedure, even though such amendments and motions have not been circulated, or have only been circulated the day it is scheduled for discussion.